Brief of Appellant

Filed 06-14-2021

Page 1 of 17

RECEIVED 06-14-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

\*\*\*\*\*

#### **CASE NO. 2021AP000021-CR**

STATE OF WISCONSIN, PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT,

-VS-

Case No. 2018 CF 81 (Vernon County)

ROBERT K. NIETZOLD, SR., DEFENDANT-APPELLANT.

> ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND THE ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN VERNON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DARCY J. ROOD PRESIDING.

#### **DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX**

BY:

Philip J. Brehm Atty For Defendant-Appellant 23 West Milwaukee St., #200 Janesville, WI 53548 608/756-4994 Bar No. 1001823

STATEMENT OF ISSUE
STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STATEMENT OF FACTS
ARGUMENT5
I. DEFENDANT NIETZOLD MUST BE GRANTED A RESENTENCING BECAUSE THE STATE FAILED TO HONOR THE TERMS OF THE PLEA AGREMENT
A. Relevant law6
B. The State materially breached the plea agreement9
C. Trial counsel's performance was deficient10
D. Defendant was prejudiced by trial counsel's deficient performance
E. If the State argues trial counsel's inactions waived this issue, trial counsel was ineffective and the case should be remanded for a Machner hearing11
CONCLUSION12
CERTIFICATIONS
INDEX TO APPENDIX14
CASES CITED
Mabry v. Johnson, 467 U.S. 504 (1984)

State v. Bangert,	
131 Wis.2d 246,	
389 N.W.2d 12 (1986)7	
State v. Howard,	
2001 WI App 137,	
246 Wis.2d 475,	
630 N.W.2d 2447	
State v. Liukonen,	
2004 WI App 157,	
276 Wis.2d 64,	
686 N.W.2d 689,	
394 N.W.2d 9096	
State v. Smith,	
207 Wis.2d 258,	
558 N.W.2d 379 (1997)6-7, 11	
State v. Sprang,	
2004 WI App 121,	
274 Wis.2d 784,	
683 N.W.2d 522	
State v. Williams,	
2002 WI 1,	
249 Wis.2d 492,	
637 N.W.2d 7335	
State v. Wills,	
187 Wis.2d 529,	
523 N.W.2d 569 (Ct.App.1994)6	
State v. Woods,	
173 Wis.2d 129,	
496 N.W.2d 144 (Ct.App. 1992)9, 11	
OTHER LAW	
Daniel Frome Kaplan, Comment, Where Promises	
End: Prosecutorial Adherence To Sentence	
Recommendation Commitments in Plea Bargains,	
52 U. Chi. L.Rev. 751, 755 (1985)6	

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUE

I. WHETHER DEFENDANT SHOULD BE GRANTED A RESENTENCING BASED ON STATE'S BREACH OF DEFENDANT'S PLEA AGREEMENT AT THE TIME OF SENTENCING.

On 12/20/20, the trial court denied defendant Nietzold's motion for a resentencing without a hearing by having filed a face page of defendant's motion document with "Denied" written in and initialed, presumably by the court (39, App. at 101). On 2/8/21, a more formal order was entered by the trial court, again denying postconviction relief (45, App. at 102).

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument and publication are not requested.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On 9/21/18, defendant was charged in Vernon County Circuit Court Case 2018 CF 81 with the commission of five counts of second-degree sexual assault as a Class C felony, the offenses allegedly committed over the period between 2014 and July of 2017 (2). On 11/14/18, defendant waived his right to a preliminary hearing (7). An information was filed which alleged the same offense as in the criminal complaint (6). On 4/22/19, an amended information was filed, alleging a single count of repeated acts of sexual assault, the offense allegedly committed in 2014 (16). On 5/6/19, defendant entered a plea to the offense alleged in the information (55:4-8). The court accepted defendant's plea and found defendant guilty (55:8). presentence report was ordered (19).

On 6/26/19, a sentencing hearing was held (48). At the conclusion of the hearing, the court sentenced defendant Nietzold to 25 years in prison, 15 years initial confinement followed by 10 years of extended supervision (48:38-39). Defendant filed a timely notice of intent to seek postconviction relief (26).

On 12/4/20, defendant filed a postconviction motion for a resentencing (37). On 12/20/20, the trial court denied defendant Nietzold's motion for a resentencing without a hearing by having filed the face page of defendant's postconviction motion document with "Denied" written in and initialed, presumably by the court (39, App. at 101). On 2/8/21, a more formal order was entered by the trial court, again denying postconviction relief (45, App. at 102).

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On 5/6/19, defendant entered his plea to the sole count of the amended information, repeated sexual assault of a child as a Class C felony (55). A plea questionnaire was filed by trial counsel and was part of the record during the plea colloquy (17). The plea questionnaire indicated there was a plea agreement to the effect "DA not making specific term of imprisonment" (17:2, App. at 103). During the plea hearing, the State informed the court, "I will be asking for prison, but it won't be any specific length, is what the agreement is, Your Honor" (55:3). A presentence report was ordered (19).

The presentence report was filed with the court prior to sentencing (20). The report recommended 22 years prison, 10 years initial confinement followed by 12 years of extended supervision (20:24).

On 6/26/19, the matter proceeded to sentencing (48). The victim and her mother requested a maximum sentence (48:3-12). The State, in its sentencing remarks said the following:

You know, most of us in this courtroom sit here as fathers, mothers, grandmothers, grandparents. And you try to wrap your head around it. Judge the PSI asks for 22 years. You know, we get to sentencing in serious cases, this is a serious case. But, again, Mr. Nietzold stands before this Court not convicted previously, but, again, pled to repeated acts of sexual assault against his daughter.

So what is—again, what's the magic number? And as I've said before, that's a difficult position that this court is in. And a lot of times the PSI may be the best barometer because they do have their grids and their guidelines, and thy understand throughout either this region, or at least the state, what—I don't want to say typical, because there isn't a typical sentence, but at least—you have to put a number on it eventually. And the

number that they came up with was 22, 12 years of initial confinement and ten of extended supervision.

Judge, I—you know, again, whether that's the right number, not the right number, [The victim] was talking about the maximum term, which would be 40 years, 25 in and 15 out. Again, I don't know what the number is. I think the number that the PSI put on is a reasonable number. I've looked at other sentences to—again, when I say similar, at least the charge-wise, that that certainly is in the range in this area.

Judge, the only thing I would ask the Court to consider would be 15 years is the maximum time of extended supervision. Maybe keep Mr. Nietzold on extended supervision for a 15-year period rather than the 10 that's being requested.

So, I guess that's what I would ask that the Court consider, is a 27-year sentence with 12 years of initial confinement and 15 years of extended supervision. That would be a –depending upon potentially early discharge from prison at some point, that would be about 25 years out that he would be under some formal either incarceration or supervision, which I think just makes sense in regards to the heinous nature of these crimes (48:15-16).

Only after the State had completed its remarks, did defense counsel object to the State's argument being a breach of the plea agreement (48:17). In response to defense counsel's objection, the State conceded its argument could only be for a prison sentence of unspecified length (48:17). Defense counsel did not ask for any relief based on the State's breach (48). There is no evidence in the record that defense counsel consulted with defendant about his options in the face of the State's breach of the plea agreement (48).

Defense counsel recommended a prison sentence of two to three years initial confinement followed by a term of extended supervision left to the discretion of the trial court (48:24). After defendant's allocution, the Court took a brief recess (48:32). In pronouncing sentence, the following took place:

The Court: It's always so hard to put a number what the sentence should be. The state recommended 12 years. We say 12 years in--.

DA Gaskell: Judge, recall that I didn't make a recommendation.

The Court: The State. I meant DOC by the state, not you.

DA Gaskell: Oh, I'm sorry.

The Court: I'm sorry. I'm thinking of the DOC as the state, not Attorney Gaskell.

Mr. Gaskell: Department of Corrections.

The Court: Department of Corrections. Thank you for clarifying that. I would not want the record to state that, because I did not listen to what you wee saying, essentially were echoing what the PSI said.

Mr. Thibodeau: Well, the record does--

The Court: Other than asking for a longer extended supervision, but you didn't ask for any more--.

Mr. Gaskell: Right, but, Judge,--

The Court: --confinement—

Mr. Gaskell: The negotiation—

The Court: I understand.

Mr. Gaskell: I was not to make any recommendation.

The Court: And you withdrew your recommendation.

Mr. Gaskell: Yeah.

The Court: I get that. I'm just saying it was DOC. It was DOC that made this recommendation.

Mr. Gaskell: Right.

The Court: I get that. I'm just saying it was DOC. It was DOC that made this recommendation.

Mr. Gaskell: Right.

The Court: So I was trying to figure out what would be appropriate (48:37-38).

The trial court imposed a sentence of 25 years, 15 years initial confinement followed by 10 years of extended supervision (48:38-39).

Case 2021AP000021 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-14-2021 Page 8 of 17

Defendant Nietzold, brought a postconviction motion asking for a new sentencing based on the State's failure to honor the terms of the plea agreement (37). In the alternative, the defense asserted that if the State argued the issue was waived because it was not timely preserved, that trial counsel was ineffective (37). A postconviction motion hearing was not held. On 12/4/20 and 2/8/21, orders were entered denying the postconviction relief (39, 45, App. at 101-02).

#### **ARGUMENT**

J. DEFENDANT NIETZOLD MUST BE GRANTED A RESENTENCING BECAUSE THE STATE FAILED TO HONOR THE TERMS OF THE PLEA AGREMENT.

#### Standard of review

The standard of review is set forth in *State v. Naydihor*, 2004 WI 43, ¶10, 270 Wis.2d 585, 678 N.W.2d 220:

A prosecutor who does not present the negotiated sentencing recommendation to the circuit court breaches the plea agreement. An actionable breach must not be merely a technical breach; it must be a material and substantial breach. When the breach is material and substantial, a plea agreement may be vacated or an accused may be entitled to resentencing. [State v. Williams, 2002 WI 1, ¶¶ 37-38, 249 Wis.2d 492, 637 N.W.2d 733]. Whether the State breached a plea agreement is a mixed question of fact and law. The precise terms of a plea agreement between the State and a defendant and the historical facts surrounding the State's alleged breach of that agreement are questions of fact. Id., ¶2. On appeal, the circuit court's determinations as to these facts are reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard. Id., ¶20. Whether the State's conduct constitutes a material and substantial breach of the plea agreement is a question of law that this court reviews de novo. Id. A breach is material and substantial when it "defeats the benefit for which the accused bargained." Id., ¶ 38.

#### A. Relevant law.

In *State v. Smith*, 207 Wis.2d 258, 558 N.W.2d 379 (1997), the court addressed an issue related to State's violation of a plea agreement. In *Smith*, defendant negotiated a plea agreement with the State. The State agreed to make no sentencing recommendation at sentencing. Defendant entered his pleas. At sentencing, the State argued for a lengthy prison sentence. The defense attorney did not object. In addressing the issue, the court said:

A criminal defendant has a constitutional right to the enforcement of a negotiated plea agreement. State v. Wills, 187 Wis.2d 529, 536, 523 N.W.2d 569 (Ct.App.1994) aff'd, 193 Wis.2d 273, 533 N.W.2d 165 (1995)(citing Mabry v. Johnson, 467 U.S. 504, 104 S.Ct. 2543, 81 L.Ed.2d 437 (1984)). Due process concerns arise in the process of enforcing a plea agreement. Wills, 187 Wis.2d at 537, 523 N.W.2d 569 (citing Daniel Frome Kaplan, Comment, Where Promises End: Prosecutorial Adherence to Sentence Recommendation Commitments in Plea Bargains, 52 U. Chi. L.Rev. 751, 755 (1985)). "Although a defendant has no right to call upon the prosecution to perform while the agreement is wholly executory, once the defendant has given up his bargaining chip by pleading guilty, due process requires that the defendant's expectations be fulfilled." 187 Wis.2d at 537, 523 N.W.2d 569 (quoting Kaplan, 52 U. Chi. L.Rev. at 755).

The Wills court concluded that a contract law analysis of a plea agreement leads to the same result as a due process analysis. 187 Wis.2d at 537, 523 N.W.2d 569. An agreement by the State to make a particular sentence recommendation may induce the defendant to waive his fundamental right to a trial. "Government sentence recommendation commitments fundamentally influence the defendant's calculus by altering the expected outcome of a sentencing proceeding." Id. (quoting Kaplan, 52 U. Chi. L.Rev. at 769). When a prosecutor make negotiated does the recommendation, that conduct constitutes a breach of the plea agreement. State v. Poole, 131 Wis.2d at 364, 394 N.W.2d 909.

In a case where the defendant sought to withdraw his guilty plea because the prosecutor may have technically breached the agreement, we said that a plea agreement may be vacated where a "material and substantial breach of the agreement" is proven. *State v. Bangert*, 131 Wis.2d 246, 289, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986). Such a breach must deprive the defendant of a material and substantial benefit for which he or she bargained. *Id.* at 290, 389 N.W.2d 12. Further, we said that a material and substantial breach amounts to a "manifest injustice." *Id.* at 289, 389 N.W.2d 12.

In *Smith*, the court indicated that prejudice is presumed when the prosecutor materially breaches the plea agreement and the defense attorney fails to object. *Id.* at 278-82.

In State v. Howard, 2001 WI App 137, 246 Wis.2d 475, 630 N.W.2d 244, the court addressed an issue related to whether a plea agreement had been breached by the State during its sentencing remarks. In the case, the parties reached an agreement whereby the State would argue for concurrent sentences on several charges, with a cap of 25 years in prison on a count of sexual assault. At sentencing, while the State argued for a total of 25 years in prison, it did so by arguing for several consecutive sentences to the count of sexual assault. The defense did not object to the State's argument.

On appeal, the court found the State had breached the plea agreement. The court remanded for a hearing on the issue of whether trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object. As to possible remedies, the court recognized specific performance of the agreement as an appropriate remedy. *Id.* at ¶32.

In *State v. Sprang*, 2004 WI App 121, 274 Wis.2d 784, 683 N.W.2d 522, the court addressed an issue where the State breached a plea agreement. In *Sprang*, the defendant pleaded to first-degree sexual assault of a child. The State agreed to recommend no more than probation with any appropriate conditions. Prior to sentencing, the presentence report and a sexual offender assessment were filed. Both recommended prison.

Case 2021AP000021 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-14-2021 Page 11 of 17

At sentencing, the State proceeded to flagrantly undercut the terms of the original plea agreement:

> The prosecutor noted that Sprang had not traditionally done well with supervision and had committed "one of the most serious offenses that the State can charge in this state" which carries "the second highest penalty that a nonenhanced felony can carry." The prosecutor noted a definite need to protect the public. He then expressed his concern about appropriate treatment while noting that the sexual offender assessment and the PSI author, after "thorough presentence," conducting a made recommendation referring to initial confinement in the three-to five-year range." The prosecutor then explained that he had inquired of the PSI author how treatment would be run in prison and was informed that it would take six to nine months to get someone into the program and then six months to four years to complete a treatment. He indicated that he was "pass[ing] that along to the Court for whatever help it may or may not be in terms of if the Court ... chooses to send [Sprang] to prison ... or chooses to accept the plea agreement." Id. at ¶10.

Sprang's counsel sat silently during these remarks. The defense presentation was characterized as follows:

[H]e began his statements by observing that "what the [the prosecutor] has said, I fear if someone ever looks at a transcript, this might be considered a violation of the plea agreement. He then asked the prosecutor to summarize his recommendation one more time. The prosecutor declined to do so and the trial court directed the defense to move on, stated that the recommendation was clear. *Id.* at ¶11.

The appellate court found the State had breached the plea agreement. *Id.* at ¶24.

The court then analyzed the ineffective assistance of counsel claim. The court recognized that when trial counsel performs deficiently in failing to object to a substantial and material breach of the plea agreement, prejudice is presumed. *Id.* at ¶25. During the *Machner* hearing, trial counsel explained why he had not objected to the State's remarks. On appeal, the State argued defense counsel had strategic reasons for having not objecting to the State's argument.

Case 2021AP000021 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-14-2021 Page 12 of 17

In response to the State's argument, the court of appeals wrote:

We agree with the State that defense counsel had valid strategic reasons for choosing not to object to the prosecutor's remarks. However, we have already concluded that those remarks constituted of the negotiated plea agreement. When defense counsel made the decision to forego an objection, he did not consult with Sprang regarding this new development or seek Sprang's opinion in the matter. Thus, Sprang had no input into a situation where the original plea agreement, which limited the State to arguing for conditions of probation, had morphed into one in which the State could suggest that the court impose a prison sentence without probation. As such, the plea agreement to which Sprang plead no longer existed. That defense counsel failed to consult Sprang as to the new agreement violates the holding of State v. Woods, 173 Wis.2d 129, 132-33, 141, 496 N.W.2d 144 (Ct.App. 1992). ... [In Woods], we held that a guilty plea is a personal right of the defendant and that the defendant was entitled to withdraw his plea on grounds that defense counsel's failure to object had resulted in a renegotiated plea agreement to which the defendant was never a party. *Id.* at ¶¶27-28.

#### B. The State materially breached the plea agreement.

In this case, the State clearly breached the plea agreement. When defendant Nietzold entered his plea, the plea agreement was that the State would not make a specific prison recommendation. That is reflected in the plea questionnaire, where the agreement was summarized as, "DA not making a specific term of imprisonment" (32, App. at 103). During the plea hearing, the State confirmed this was the plea agreement (55:3). However, during sentencing, the State asked the court to impose a specific prison sentence of 27 years in prison, 12 years of initial confinement followed by 15 years of extended supervision (48:15-16). The State presented the court with a lengthy analysis as to how it arrived at its recommendation, including a reference to the PSI recommendation (48:15-16).

Case 2021AP000021 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-14-2021 Page 13 of 17

It goes without saying, defendant Nietzold did not reach a plea agreement with the State whereby the State would agree not to recommend a specific prison sentence, but during sentencing, would make a recommendation for a specific term of prison, but would later withdraw that specific recommendation when the defense objected. Who would make this kind of plea deal? Defendant Nietzold received no benefit from his plea agreement.

Any suggestion this was not a breach of the plea agreement is absurd. No prosecutor, no judge, no other court official would find what happened in this case acceptable if it happened to their beloved father, son or brother during a sentencing hearing. Defendant Robert Nietzold doesn't have to either.

Defendant has no reason to believe the State acted maliciously in making its recommendation in contravention of the plea agreement. Defendant has no duty to prove the State acted intentionally in breaching the plea agreement. The stark reality is the Court could not ignore the State's argument when it imposed sentence. While the State later tried to remedy the error, it was too little, too late. One cannot unring a bell. The prosecutor's later statement to the Court that it could not make a specific prison recommendation cured nothing. The damage was done when the State's argument was made. Regardless of trial counsel's inactions, the State breached the plea agreement. Resentencing before another judge is the proper remedy.

#### C. <u>Trial counsel's performance was deficient.</u>

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