FILED 06-27-2022 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

CASE NO. 2021AP21-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

-VS-

Case No. 2018 CF 81 (Vernon County)

Filed 06-27-2022

ROBERT K. NIETZOLD, SR., **Defendant-Appellant.**

> REVIEW OF A DECISION AND ORDER OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT IV, REVERSING A JUDGMENT AND ORDER OF VERNON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DARCY JO ROOD PRESIDING, AND REMANDING FOR RESENTENCING

RESPONSE BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

BY:

Philip J. Brehm **Atty For Defendant-Appellant** 23 West Milwaukee St., #200 Janesville, WI 53548 608/756-4994 Bar No. 1001823

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

ARGUMENT

Summary of argument

No one can reasonably argue defendant Nietzold realized the benefit of his plea agreement. The record clearly demonstrates defendant was denied his right to a fair and reliable sentencing proceeding. Defendant Nietzold is entitled to resentencing in this matter. The prosecutor materially and substantially breached the plea agreement. Pursuant to the law from State v. Williams, 202 WI 1, 249 Wis.2d 492, 637 N.W.2d 733, defendant is entitled to relief regardless of whether defense counsel lodged a timely objection to the breach. In the alternative, defendant is entitled to resentencing based on trial counsel's ineffective assistance of counsel in failing to lodge a timely objection to the State's argument.

I. THE STATE'S ARGUMENT FOR SPECIFIC PRISON TIME IN THIS CASE WAS A MATERIAL AND SUBSTANTIAL BREACH REQUIRING RESESENTENCING.

A. Standard of review.

Defendant agrees with the standard of review set forth in the State's brief (State's brief at 10). The State recognizes that whether a breach occurred, and if so, whether it deprived the defendant of a material or substantial benefit for which he or she has bargained, are questions of law that are reviewed *de novo* (State's brief at 10-11).

B. A prosecutor's breach of the plea agreement must be material and substantial.

Defendant agrees with the State's general law in support of this concept (State's brief at 11-12). Defendant highlights a portion of the State's argument:

[T]o be actionable, "[a] breach must not merely be technical." *State v. Bangert*, 131 Wis.2d 246, 290, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986). [R]ather, [it] must deprive the [defendant] of a *substantial and material benefit* for which he [or she] bargained. *Id.* (emphasis added). If the breach is material and substantial, a defendant may be entitled to resentencing or plea withdrawal, as the sentencing court, in its discretion, deems appropriate. *See State v. Howard*, 2001 WI App 137, ¶¶36-37, 246 N.W.2d 475, 630 N.W.2d 244 (State's brief at 11).

In *State v. Smith*, 207 Wis.2d 258, 281, 558 N.W.2d 379, 388 (1997), the court recognized that the breach of a material and substantial term of a plea agreement by the prosecutor deprives the defendant of a sentencing proceeding whose result is fair and reliable.

Filed 06-27-2022

C. Under Williams, a defendant is entitled to relief when the prosecutor materially and substantially breaches the plea agreement by not making the promised sentencing recommendation.

The issue raised in this case can be resolved by applying the law from State v. Williams, 202 WI 1, 249 Wis.2d 492, 637 N.W.2d 733. In Williams, the State entered into a plea agreement whereby it agreed to recommend jail and probation upon the defendant plea to felony failure to support. *Id.* at ¶¶24-25. The presentence report recommended an 18-month prison sentence. Id. at ¶25. At sentencing, the prosecutor accurately set forth the terms of the plea agreement, but undercut the agreement by twice quoting the presentence writer's opinion that defendant needed to go to prison. Id. at ¶26. At this point, defense counsel objected and accused the prosecutor of undercutting the plea agreement. Id. at ¶27. The trial court agreed. Id. at ¶27. The prosecutor then stated she was not changing her recommendation but was merely relaying information from the presentence writer, who was absent:

> And Judge, if I indicated anything other than what our recommendation is, the presentence was here. We were preparing to go to sentencing, and the agent relayed this information to us. And I am merely supplying the Court with that information. I am in no means suggesting that I am asking the Court to adopt the agent's recommendation. I believe the sentencing court should have all information necessary. And I am just merely relaying it. She had indicated she would be here, and that was the information she had given us. So again I will reiterate, Judge, we are standing by our recommendation, and I have not changed that, and that's why I started off by saying we are recommending the three years probation. We had placed that on the record when the defendant entered his plea, and again today at sentencing. Id. at ¶29.

In granting defendant a resentencing, the court wrote:

Filed 06-27-2022

This case presents a close question. The overall impression from reading the entire record of the sentencing hearing is, however, the State's comments affirming the plea agreement were too little, too late. We agree with the court of appeals that "just because the prosecutor says there was no breach does not make it so." That the prosecutor did not intend to breach the agreement or that a breach was inadvertent "does not lessen its impact." Id. at ¶52.

In finding in defendant's favor, the Williams court specifically cited Smith, the cornerstone of the State's argument:

> In State v. Smith, 207 Wis.2d 258, 272, 558 N.W.2d 379 (1997), this court remanded the cause for new sentencing, holding that the prosecutor materially and substantially breached the plea agreement by recommending 58 months of incarceration. The terms of the plea agreement required the State to make no recommendation to the circuit court regarding the length of sentence imposed. The effect of the State's conduct in the present case, like the effect of the prosecutor's conduct in Smith, was to undercut the plea agreement, thereby depriving the defendant of his bargain and rendering the sentencing proceeding fundamentally unfair.

> In summary, we conclude that the prosecutor's statements at the sentencing hearing undercut the defendant's plea agreement, resulting in a material and substantial breach of the defendant's plea agreement. Consequently, we affirm the decision of the court of appeals reversing the judgment of the circuit court denying defendant's motion for resentencing, and we remand the cause to the circuit court for resentencing. *Id.* at ¶¶58-59.

Although in *Smith*, the court conducted an analysis based in part on ineffective assistance of counsel, arguably, it decision did not turn on whether trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the State's specific recommendation for prison in spite of its agreement not to do so:

> [W]e conclude that when a prosecutor agrees to make no sentencing recommendation but instead recommends a significant person term, such conduct is a material and substantial breach of the plea agreement. Such a breach of the State's agreement on sentencing is a "manifest

Filed 06-27-2022

injustice" and always results in prejudice to the defendant. See Bangert, 131 Wis.2d at 289, 389 N.W.2d 12.1 (emphasis added). The breach of a material and substantial term of a plea agreement by a prosecutor deprives the defendant of a sentencing proceeding whose result is fair and reliable. Our conclusion precludes the need to consider what the sentencing judge would have done if the defense attorney had objected the breach by the district attorney. *Id.* at 281 (emphasis added).

D. Pursuant to Williams, defendant is entitled to resentencing.

In this case, the State clearly breached the plea agreement in a material and substantial way. This was not a technical breach. When defendant Nietzold entered his plea, the plea agreement was that the State would not make a specific prison recommendation. However, during sentencing, the State asked the court to impose a specific prison sentence of 27 years in prison, 12 years of initial confinement followed by 15 years of extended supervision (48:15-16). The State presented the court with a lengthy and uninterrupted analysis as to how it arrived at its recommendation, including a reference to the PSI recommendation (48:15-16).

It goes without saying, defendant Nietzold did not reach a plea agreement with the State whereby the State would agree not to recommend a specific prison sentence, but during sentencing, would make a recommendation for a specific term prison, but would later withdraw that specific recommendation when the defense finally objected.

11

¹ The *Bangert* court wrote, "A breach of a plea agreement does not give rise to a per se right to withdraw a plea. A material and substantial breach, however, amounts to a manifest injustice and results in the vacating of the plea agreement and the withdrawal of the plea of no contest." Id.

Filed 06-27-2022

Unfortunately, like in Williams, the error committed by the State in this case could not be corrected. The effort to correct the error by the State was too little and too late. Obviously, one cannot unring a bell. The trial court's comments related to one of the last attempts to do so by the State would be comical if not in the context of a somber sentencing proceeding. Even after State's final attempt to disavow its specific prison recommendation, the trial court said to the prosecutor:

> Thank you for clarifying that. I would not want the record to state that, because I did not listen to what you were saying, essentially were echoing what the PSI said (emphasis added) (48:38).

The record confirms defendant Nietzold in fact received no benefit from his plea agreement. He was deprived his right to a sentencing proceeding whose result is fair and reliable. Resentencing is necessary.

E. The holdings in *Knox* and in *Bowers* are easily distinguishable from this case.

In support of its argument, the State cites two court of appeals cases, where the courts found an erroneous statement of the plea agreement by the State could be corrected by the State during the sentencing hearing, avoiding error. Neither is compelling precedent to resolve the issues in this case.

In State v. Knox, 213 Wis.2d 318, 570 N.W.2d 599 (Ct. App. 1997), the defendant worked out an agreement whereby defendant would plead to felony offenses in exchange for an agreement by the State whereby the parties would jointly recommend a six-year prison sentence, to run concurrently with other sentences. Id. at 320. At sentencing a few weeks later, a prosecutor not involved in the negotiations appeared for the State. She argued for a five-year prison term consecutive to any other sentence. Id. Defense counsel immediately requested a recess to speak with the assigned prosecutor, a recess was called and the prosecutor corrected her recommendation to accurately reflect the plea agreement when the case was recalled. Id. (emphasis added).

Filed 06-27-2022

The *Knox* court found there was no substantial breach of the plea agreement:

> The perceived breach in this case was not substantial. It was not intended to affect the substance of the agreement by sending a veiled message to the sentencing court that greater punishment than provided for in the plea agreement was warranted. Rather, the deviation from the original terms drew a prompt objection and was shown to be the result of a misstate that was quickly acknowledged and rectified. Indeed, the prosecutor's earnest manner in advocating the corrected proposed disposition, commented upon by the trial court, further circumstantially belies an implication of improper motive. For these reasons, the momentary and inadvertent misstatement of the parties' agreement did not constitute an actionable breach. Id. at 322-23.

There was no substantial breach in *Knox* because the error was immediately corrected before it was allowed to taint the entire sentencing proceeding. Obviously, in this case the error was not corrected until the State had made a full, uninterrupted presentation for a specific prison sentence in part based on the presentence report.

In State v. Bowers, 2005 WI App 72, 280 Wis.2d 534, 696 N.W.2d 255, on 12/27/02, the defendant entered into a plea agreement with the State whereby the parties would jointly recommend a prison sentence of four years prison, two years initial confinement and three years of extended supervision. Id. at ¶2. The agreement was silent on whether the recommendation as to whether the recommendation was to be concurrent or consecutive. *Id.* At sentencing on 7/30/03, the State recommended two and one-half years initial confinement and two and one-half years of extended supervision, to run consecutively to any other sentence. Id. at ¶3. Immediately after the State completed its sentencing argument, the defendant advised his counsel that the State had had misstated the plea agreement. Id. Upon confirming the error, the State immediately amended its recommendation to "two years in, three years out." Id. Defendant was ultimately sentenced to three years initial confinement and two years of extended supervision. Id.

Filed 06-27-2022

The Bowers court, citing State v. Dielke, 2004 WI 104, ¶14, 274 Wis.2d 595, 682 N.W.2d 945, recognized a material and substantial breach of a plea agreement is one that violates the terms of the agreement and deprives the defendant of a material and substantial benefit for which he bargained. Bowers at ¶9. Ultimately, because the State's misstatement was "inadvertent and insubstantial," the Bowers court found no breach had occurred. *Id.* at $\P 2$.

While this case is somewhat similar procedurally to Bowers, the misstatement by the State was de minimus or "insubstantial" as recognized in Bowers. The State was bound to recommend two years of initial confinement but instead argued for two years and six months of initial confinement, an additional six months. The error was corrected before sentencing was pronounced.

On appeal in Bowers, the State conceded the misstatement was material but not substantial. *Id.* at ¶11. The court found the state's inadvertent misstatement was neither material nor substantial because the error was corrected promptly and did not impair the integrity of the sentencing process. *Id.* at ¶12.

Unlike in *Bowers*, in this case, the State's recommendation was not a mere misstatement of the plea agreement, it was the advocacy for a specific length of prison, the one argument the State had agreed not to make. Its recommendation was also for a specific, lengthy period of initial confinement. There is there is no easy way to fix this type of error. The trial court cannot unhear this type of argument. When one looks at the entire sentencing transcript, it is apparent the trial court was still aware of the State's erroneous recommendation when it imposed sentence, regardless of the State efforts to correct it.

The court of appeals correctly concluded the State was unable to cite a case where a prosecutor's disavowal of a specific prison sentence recommendation in the face of an agreement not to recommend a specific recommendation was sufficient to cure any breach of the plea agreement. State v. Robert Nietzold, District IV Case 2021AP21-CR, decided 12/9/21 at ¶15 (Pet-App. 8).

II. DEFENSE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO TIMELY OBJECT TO THE STATE'S BREACH OF THE PLEA AGREEMENT.

Under the law from *Williams*, defendant need not demonstrate ineffective assistance of counsel in order to prevail. Nevertheless, under the facts of this case, defendant could meet that burden in this case.

In *State v. Smith*, 207 Wis.2d 258, 558 N.W.2d 379 (1997), defendant pleaded to burglary and four misdemeanors. *Id.* at 262. The prosecutor agreed to make no sentencing recommendation. *Id.* At sentencing, the State argued for 58 months in prison in spite of the plea agreement. *Id.* Defense counsel did not object. *Id.* Instead, the defense argued for 36 months in prison. *Id.* at 262-63. The court imposed six years in prison. *Id.* at 263.

Defendant filed a postconviction motion alleging trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the State's breach of the plea agreement. *Id.* While the trial court agreed defense counsel's performance was deficient in not objecting to the breach of the plea agreement, it found there was no prejudice before the trial court had not relied on the State's recommendation. *Id.* at 263-634.

On appeal, defendant asserted the State had committed a material and substantial breach of the plea agreement warranting relief. *Id.* at 264. Defendant agreed with the trial court that defense counsel had performed deficiently and argued that prejudiced must be presumed under the facts of his case. *Id.* The State conceded defendant was entitled to resentencing because the sentencing proceedings were flawed and unfair. *Id.* at 264-65. The court of appeals held that notwithstanding defense counsel's deficient performance, defendant was unable to show prejudice. *Id.* at 265.

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